
www.mineralspringsnc.com 
Page 1  

Town of Mineral Springs  

Mineral Springs Town Hall 

3506 Potter Road S ~ Mineral Springs 

Mineral Springs Town Council 

Regular Meeting  

November 10, 2022 ~ 7:30 P.M. 

AGENDA 

 
 

1. Opening  
 

The meeting will be called to order, an invocation will be delivered, and the Pledge of Allegiance will 
be recited.    

 
2. Public Comments 

 

The town council will hear comments from members of the public on any matters of interest to them 
during this ten-minute period.  
 

3. Consent Agenda – Action Item 
 

A. Approval of the October 13, 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes 
B. Acceptance of the September 2022 Union County Tax Report  
C. Acceptance of the September 2022 Finance Report 
 

4. Consideration of Approving the Lighting Plan for God’s Temple of Zion’s Soccer 
Field – Action Item  
 

The council will consider approving the lighting plan for God’s Temple of Zion’s soccer field located 
at 5902 McNeely Road.     
 

5. Consideration of Granting Funds to the D. Coffey Foundation for Athletics and 
Education for an After-School Program – Action Item 

 

Dr. Delice Coffey and Mr. John Tillman will make a presentation and request grant funding in the 
amount of $56,194 to implement a Social-Emotional Readiness Program for children in Grades K - 5. 
 

6. Consideration of Project Ordinance (O-2022-05) – Action Item 
 

The council will consider approving a project ordinance to authorize funding for the D. Coffey 
Foundation’s Social-Emotional Readiness Program.  
 

 

7. Consideration of the 2023 Town Hall Holiday Schedule – Action Item 
The council will consider approving the 2023 Town Hall Holiday Schedule.  
 

8. Staff Updates   

 The staff will update the council on any developments that may affect the town.  
  
9. Other Business 

 
10. Adjournment 



 

October 13, 2022 – Draft 
  

Minutes Book 24 Page | 15 

 

Draft Minutes of the  
Mineral Springs Town Council  

Regular Meeting  
October 13, 2022 – 7:30 p.m.  

 
The Town Council of the Town of Mineral Springs, North Carolina, met in Regular Session at the Mineral 
Springs Town Hall located at 3506 Potter Road S, Mineral Springs, North Carolina, at 7:30 p.m. on 
Thursday, October 13, 2022. 
 
Present: Mayor Frederick Becker III, Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Countryman, Councilwoman Valerie 

Coffey, Councilwoman Janet Critz, Councilwoman Lundeen Cureton, and 
Councilman Jim Muller.  

 
Absent:  Councilwoman Bettylyn Krafft.   
 
Staff Present: Town Clerk/Zoning Administrator Vicky Brooks, Attorney Bobby Griffin, and 

Administrative Assistant/Deputy Town Clerk Maurice Norman. 
 
Visitors: Rev. Jimmy H. Bention, Sr. and William Colon Moore.  
 
1. Opening 
 

With a quorum present at 7:31 p.m. on October 13, 2022, Mayor Becker called the Regular Town 
Council Meeting to order.  

 Councilwoman Critz delivered the invocation. 

 Pledge of Allegiance. 

2. Public Comments 
 

 There were no public comments.  

3. Consent Agenda – Action Item 
 

Councilman Countryman motioned to approve the consent agenda containing the numbering 
amendment in the July 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes, the September 8, 2022 Regular Meeting 
Minutes, the August 2022 Union County Tax Report, and the August 2022 Finance Report and 
Councilwoman Coffey seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.  Ayes: Coffey, Countryman, 
Critz, Cureton, and Muller.  Nays: None. 

4. Union County School Board Bond Package Presentation  

  Union County School Board Member Rev. Jimmy H. Bention, Sr. and Assistant Superintendent for 
Administration and Operations Mr. William Colon Moore made a presentation to the council about 
the upcoming vote on a bond package. 

 Mr. Bention began the presentation.   

o There have been 30 new construction and renovation projects over the last couple of decades.  
The current bond package is $134,405,000 to replace two aging schools. 

o New buildings will be constructed for Forest Hills High School and East Elementary School, 
which were built in the fifties and sixties. 

o The vote will occur on November 8th; early voting starts next week. 

o The school board is encouraging people to go forth and vote.   

o UCPS has more than 8,000,000 in facility needs (renovations, upgrades, and future planning).   



 

October 13, 2022 – Draft 
  

Minutes Book 24 Page | 16 

 

o UCPS is appreciative of what the county commissioners have allowed them to put before the 
citizens on this bond.   

o UCPS wants to be able to remove mobile classrooms that are at the end of their cycle. 

o East Elementary School is well kept, but it is old.  Rev. Bention encouraged council to take a 
visit and have their citizens visit. 

o Mr. Bob Moore and his team as well as the facilities people do an outstanding job of taking what 
exists and making it look good, but that does not minimize the age. 

o Rev. Bention pointed out the schematic [in the agenda packet] of the futuristic view of East 
Elementary. 

o The cost of the new East Elementary School is just north of $38,000,000. 

o The cost for Forest Hills is just north of $95,000.000. 

o East Elementary School and Forest Hills High School will be two-story facilities. 

o UCPS is looking to address new construction facilities, upgrades, and renovations with their 10-
year long-term capital planning with a successful bond. 

 Mr. Moore continued the presentation. 

o Mr. Moore clarified the bond funds could be spent on construction, renovations, land acquisition, 
capital items, insured equipment, and contractors.   

o No land acquisition is needed for the East Elementary School or Forest Hills High School 
projects; land was purchased through some funds years ago for Forest Hills. 

o Bonds can not be used to pay Union County Public Schools salaries.  
o UCPS submitted approximately 15 projects to the county commissioners for over $160,000,000 

worth of needs for the next two years.  It was the intention to have all those projects on the bond.  
The county commissioners selected these two projects, which will be put up for voters to vote 
on the funding. 

o Funding through bonds is the most economical way for taxpayers to fund projects. 
o The estimated tax increase would be approximately $17.30 on a $100,000 property, if the bond 

passes. 
o Capital Improvement Projects information can be found on the UCPS website. 

Councilwoman Coffey asked if the construction of Forest Hills High would eliminate all trailers. 

Mr. Moore responded yes, at Forest Hills High School and East Elementary.  Forest Hills currently 
has an enrollment of approximately 750 and the capacity of students in the new school will be 1200, 
with the core capacity of 1500.  What that means is the school can seat 1200 students, but the 
cafeteria, gym, media center, and common areas will be able to accommodate 1500 students.  

Councilwoman Coffey commented that it was important to look at building for the future need, 
because sometimes schools have been built that were at capacity when the doors were unlocked, 
and they were putting trailers on the property.  

Councilwoman Critz shared a story.  In 2004, her father moved to the Outer Banks for an extended 
period of time and Marc Basnight was a member of the North Carolina Senate at the time and a 
resident of that area.  On one of Councilwoman Critz’s visits there she had a conversation with Sen. 
Basnight in which he took her on a tour of their brand-new elementary school that was built without 
one penny of taxpayer money.  This was exciting for Councilwoman Critz until she realized how 
entangled it could be on a legal basis.  The school was built with what would be termed as “transfer 
fees and impact fees”, which are things that have to be approved by the legislature.  In 2004, 
Councilwoman Critz volunteered to represent Mineral Springs as the liaison with the county to create 
a public facilities ordinance study process.  Tens of thousands of dollars were spent hiring 
professionals to come work with the group; the group worked for over a year.  There was an 
ordinance adopted by a three to two vote by the county commissioners.  Immediately after adoption, 



 

October 13, 2022 – Draft 
  

Minutes Book 24 Page | 17 

 

the county was sued by a developer.  Councilwoman Critz further commented she thought there 
were options to debt, because she is not a fan of bonds and never has been.  In most cases, they 
are not really upfront, and people don’t understand exactly that it is a loan or the amount of interest 
or that in many cases their children or grandchildren (or both) might still be paying off these bonds.  
Councilwoman Critz encouraged the UCPS to look for alternatives to bonds, or to look for other 
ways through compromise during this time.  Councilwoman Critz added that the developer building 
all the homes up and down Cuthbertson donated land and she looks at free land the same way she 
would look at a free puppy.  There is nothing free about it at all, it cost the county over $500,000 (in 
2000) to just prepare the land to house the facilities, recreational fields, and the buildings.  The 
builders that created the pressure on the infrastructure and made lots of money basically got away 
with and continue to get away with no input; it does not cost them a thing to over-impact a 
community.  Councilwoman Critz again encouraged UCPS to explore what other options there might 
be out there. 

Councilwoman Coffey commented that she hoped and prayed the bond passed, because she knows 
the need at Forest Hill and East Elementary.  Councilwoman Coffey encouraged people to go visit 
the school, so they would understand what the children are having to deal with.  “I promise you; we 
may do something else for the future, but for today, we need money, and we need it in construction 
of these schools,” Councilwoman Coffey stated.       

5. Consideration of Financial and Internal Control Policy – Action Item 

 Mayor Becker explained the Financial and Internal Control Policy was broken up into three sections, 
which is a little bit misleading.  Mayor Becker referred to his first memo, which applied to agenda 
items 5 and 6, and explained the reason it was two separate agenda items was because agenda 
item 5 was the town’s own Finance and Internal Controls Policy and it was not a template from the 
Institute of Government, it is something the town has been operating under.  The council has 
adopted pieces of it and Mayor Becker has reported on other pieces of it.  With Mineral Springs 
being a small unit of government, the Local Government Commission put out guidelines they 
suggested the town follow.  Back in 2015, Mayor Becker did respond to them saying the town was 
adopting several of those suggestions, with overlapping duties with other people to look at 
transactions.  As part of the requirement to accept or to start spending the federal money, the town 
must have an Internal Control Policy adopted.  The town has one, but it was never formally adopted, 
so Mayor Becker dressed up everything that the town pieced together in the past seven or eight 
years and that is the policy the council is seeing.  Mayor Becker explained he made it a separate 
agenda item, because the council has a little more discretion in there.  This is what the council has 
given Mayor Becker as guidance to do over the years, and some of it came from the Local 
Government Commission.  Mayor Becker wanted to make sure the council had a chance to read 
over the policy he was asking them to adopt under agenda item 5, the Financial and Internal Control 
Policy, to make sure that it looked like what they see the town doing and what they have endorsed 
for the finance office.  In the long-term, there is a benefit for a future finance officer to have a written 
template to go by as it will help the learning curve for somebody who will someday come in to take 
the finance officer job.  Mayor Becker mentioned that auditors tend to recommend a finance policy, 
because they work hand-in-hand with the Local Government Commission.         

Councilwoman Critz motioned to approve the Financial and Internal Control Policy and Councilman 
Muller seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.  Ayes: Coffey, Countryman, Critz, Cureton, and 
Muller.  Nays: None.  

6. Consideration of American Rescue Plan Act Policies – Action Item 

Mayor Becker explained item numbers 6.1 through  6.5 are “boiler plate legalese,” which came from 
the Coates’ Canons blog that is published by the scholars at the School of Government [SOG].  The 
scholars have drawn up these five policies the Treasury Department requires municipalities to have 
in force if they are spending any federal funds.  In agenda item number 7, the council will be starting 
to move the federal funds out from under the federal umbrella and creating local funds out of them 
by “magic.”  In order to do any of that, the council will have to adopt items 6.1 through 6.5.  Mayor 



 

October 13, 2022 – Draft 
  

Minutes Book 24 Page | 18 

 

Becker used the guidelines from Kara Millonzi [of the SOG].  Step one is to adopt the town’s financial 
policy locally, which the town has been doing with its financial administration and accounting system 
for years.  Step 2 is to adopt and implement the five general compliance policies that are based on 
federal guidelines: Records Retention, which is special to this (above and beyond the one that Vicky 
puts forth), it is specifically for anything that this money is used for and the records have to be 
retained for five years after the end of the grant period (2026); Eligible Use is a lot of “gobbledygook” 
that is very specific, which is listed in 6.2; Allowable cost (which is something Mayor Becker had 
never heard of until he started reading it over); Civil Rights Compliance, which Mayor Becker 
believed the town had signed onto when it agreed to some civil rights compliance requirements 
when the CDBG participation was adopted, it is a federal policy, but the town does have to assert it 
will be following non-discrimination policies. 

Finally there was the Conflict of Interest Policy, which must be adopted even though it won’t directly 
apply to the type of expenditures the town will be making (no third parties, no contractors, no 
vendors, because the town will be paying themselves back for previously paid salaries internally, 
which is allowed).  Once the town has paid that money back, that money is the town’s money and 
is no longer bound by the federal requirements.  It has been magically reinstated to the town’s 
general fund, but the policies still have to be adopted to get to that point. 

Mayor Becker explained that the Conflict of Interest Policy has step-by-step guidelines to test for 
conflicts of interest, although the town was not ever going to have to implement that.  The Eligible 
Use Policy and the Allowable Cost Policy have checklists the finance officer is required to execute 
for any particular expenditure.  “Does it meet this? Does it meet this? Does it meet that?”  Mayor 
Becker stated he wanted to bring to the council’s attention those checklists as part of that policy.  
The finance officer must sign off and say “yes”, it has complied with the Eligible Use Policy and the 
Allowable Cost Policy. 

Mayor Becker recommended the council adopt the five required American Rescue Plan Act policies. 

Councilwoman Critz motioned to adopt agenda items 6.1 through 6.5 and Councilman Muller 
seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.  Ayes: Coffey, Countryman, Critz, Cureton, and Muller.  
Nays: None.  

7. Consideration of Adopting O-2022-01 Amending O-2021-02 – Action Item 

 Mayor Becker reminded the council and referred to his memo in the agenda packet that explained  
when they started talking about the federal money ($270,000).  There had been concern, because 
it had to be spent by December 31, 2026, and the town did not think they could use it for roads (local 
match, or for building a sidewalk, or the community center (which could not be started until later).  
The town was just sitting on the federal money that had to be spent on things they did not necessarily 
want to spend it on, just because they had to do it.  Mayor Becker explained that the US Treasury 
had later modified the requirements, so now if the town spent the money on “paying ourselves back” 
for things that had already been spent, the money would be cleared up and it is the town’s money.  
This has to be done by a grant project ordinance, and the ordinance that had been presented to the 
council was formatted from the template (almost exactly) from Kara Millonzi’s blog.  The ordinance 
is a lot like a Capital Project Ordinance the council has adopted in the past, because it is transferring 
money out of one fund and allocating it to prior payroll expenditures.  “That’s it”; it is no longer federal 
money.  Mayor Becker noted at the end of the Grant Project Ordinance there were two 
questionnaires in red, blue, and black, which were the Eligible Use and Allowable Cost policy 
checklists where he had gone over and explained that it either met the requirements or it was not 
applicable.  The background of why that was legally complying with the policies was included.  If the 
council adopts the ordinance, Mayor Becker will transfer $230,669.86 out of the special restricted 
project fund into the general fund as a reimbursement of salaries, which will leave the town with 
about $37,000 of federal funds.  Mayor Becker further explained one of the examples Kara Millonzi 
and the School of Government proposed showed “Municipality X” using  the funds to pay future 
expenses and doing that all in one ordinance.  As Mayor Becker stated in his memo, it is easier from 
an accounting standpoint to wait until the town knows the exact amount they have spent and allocate 



 

October 13, 2022 – Draft 
  

Minutes Book 24 Page | 19 

 

the rest at the end of this fiscal year.  Mayor Becker stated he talked to the town auditor and there 
is not a problem with either way the town does it. 

 Mayor Becker mentioned an issue that does come up is that once you accept more than $100,000 
or spend more than $100,000 in federal money, you have to have what is called a “Yellow Book 
Audit”, which is simply a procedure at the auditor’s about certifying their impartiality in preparing 
financial statements and then auditing the same statements.  Mayor Becker confirmed that Kendra 
[Gangel] (town auditor) felt that she does not have to do anything differently as long as she can 
certify, that will work.  If the town had more than $750,000, there is something that is called a “single 
audit”, which is much more complicated.  Kendra is aware of what the town is doing, and everything 
seems to be on the up and up.  The next step is to adopt the  Project Ordinance if the council choses 
to reimburse the town for the payroll expenses from March 3, 2021 through September 30, 2022. 

 Councilwoman Critz asked if there was nothing in the future the council had to do once this 
[ordinance adoption] was done. 

Mayor Becker responded, “for that money, nothing”, but he will have to file another report in April of 
2023 to the U.S. Treasury.  Mayor Becker will do his own internal reporting, the auditor reports the 
transfer, verifies the transfers, and then the money is just in the bank. 

Councilwoman Critz motioned to consider adopting O-2022-01 and amending O-2021-02 and 
Councilwoman Coffey seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.  Ayes: Coffey, Countryman, 
Critz, Cureton, and Muller.  Nays: None. 

The ordinance (O-2022-01) is as follows: 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
TOWN OF MINERAL SPRINGS 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING O-2021-02: TO APPROPRIATE AND SPEND FEDERAL CORONAVIRUS STATE AND LOCAL 
 FISCAL RECOVERY FUND (CSLFRF) REVENUES UNDER H.R. 1319, THE AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT OF 2021 (ARPA) 

O-2022-01 

BE IT ORDAINED by the town council of the Town of Mineral Springs, North Carolina that, pursuant to Section 13.2 of Chapter 159 of 
the General Statutes of North Carolina, the following grant project ordinance is hereby adopted, amending Grant Project Ordinance O-
2021-02, adopted on August 12, 2021: 

Section 1: This ordinance is to establish a budget for a project or projects to be funded by the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal 
Recovery Fund (CSLFRF) revenues of H.R. 1319 American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (ARPA). The Town of Mineral Springs has received 
the full allocation CSLFRF revenues in the amount of $270,618.75. These funds may be used for the following categories of expenditures, 
to the extent authorized by state law. 

1. Support public health expenditures, by funding COVID-19 mitigation efforts, medical expenses, behavioral healthcare, and 
certain public health and safety staff; 

2. Address negative economic impacts caused by the public health emergency, including economic harms to workers, 
households, small businesses, impacted industries, and the public sector; 

3. Replace lost public sector revenue, using this funding to provide government services to the extent of the reduction in revenue 
experienced due to the pandemic; 

4. Provide premium pay for essential workers, offering additional support to those who have borne and will bear the greatest 
health risks because of their service in critical infrastructure sectors; and, 

5. Invest in water, sewer, and broadband infrastructure, making necessary investments to improve access to clean drinking water, 
support vital wastewater and stormwater infrastructure, and to expand access to broadband internet. 

Section 2: The town has elected to take the standard allowance, as authorized by CFR Part 35.6(d)(1) and expend all its ARP/CSLFRF 
revenues for the provision of government services. Specifically, this ordinance authorizes reimbursement for salaries and benefits paid 
from March 3, 2021 through September 30, 2022. The Finance Officer has determined that the salaries of the Clerk, Deputy Clerk, 
Finance Officer, Planning Director, and Deputy Tax Collector are allowable, and that LGERS pension contributions, NCLM Health Benefits 
Trust contributions, and FICA contributions for those employees are allowable. The 4.7% LGERS accrued pension liability employer 
contribution for the Clerk, Finance Officer, and Planning Director is considered a “pension deposit” and is disallowed.  



 

October 13, 2022 – Draft 
  

Minutes Book 24 Page | 20 

 

 

Section 3: The following amount is appropriated for the project(s) and authorized for expenditure: 

Section 4: The following revenues are anticipated to be available to complete the project: 

CSLRF Revenues                             $270,618.75 

Section 5: The Finance Officer is hereby directed to maintain sufficient specific detailed accounting records to satisfy the requirements 
of the grantor agency and the grant agreements, including payroll documentation, in accordance with 2 CFR 200.430, 2 CFR 200.431, 
and the town’s Uniform Guidance allowable Costs and Cost Principles Policy. 

Section 6: The Finance Officer is hereby directed to report the financial status of the project to the governing board on a quarterly basis. 

Section 7: Copies of this grant project ordinance shall be furnished to the Budget Officer, the Finance Officer and the Municipal Clerk. 

Section 8: This grant project ordinance is effective as of March 3, 2021 and expires on December 31, 2026, or when all the ARP/CSLFRF 
funds have been obligated and expended by the town, whichever occurs sooner. 

ADOPTED this 13th day of October, 2022. 
___________________________________ 

Frederick Becker III, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
___________________________________ 
Vicky A. Brooks, CMC, Clerk 

8. Consideration of Adopting O-2022-02, O-2022-03, and O-2022-04 – Action Item   

 Mayor Becker explained this came to Vicky’s attention, because the town had recently adopted an 
ordinance enacting a speed limit change on Shannon Road and nothing ever happened.  Someone 
from DOT contacted Vicky and said, “you know that ordinance has never gone into effect, because 
you didn’t repeal the old one.”  Mayor Becker mentioned DOT never told the town to repeal the 
speed limit.  Ms. Brooks dealt with the NCDOT people, and it finally became clear what was going 
on and they had really not sent the town something to repeal, which is done with a concurring 
ordinance.  NCDOT came up with what the repeal would have been, so the town can repeal the old 
one, and then adopt the new one.  

 Councilwoman Coffey motioned to repeal ordinance O-2019-01 and adopt O-2022-02 and 
Councilwoman Cureton seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.  Ayes: Coffey, Countryman, 
Critz, Cureton, and Muller.  Nays: None. 

 The ordinance (O-2022-02) is as follows: 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 

TOWN OF MINERAL SPRINGS 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING ORDINANCE O-2019-01 
O-2022-02 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council of Mineral Springs finds that “AN ORDINANCE DECLARING SPEED LIMIT MODIFICATION 
CONCURRING WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION ORDINANCE, O-2019-01”, adopted March 12, 2020, enacting a 

Internal 
Project 
Code 

Project Description Expenditure 
Category (EC) 

Cost Object Appropriation of 
ARP/CSLFRF Funds 

001 Finance, Clerk, Tax, and Planning - 
March 3, 2021 through March 31, 2022

6.1 Salaries $131,386.76 

002 Finance, Clerk, Tax, and Planning – 
March 3, 2021 through March 31, 2022

6.1 Benefits $24,527.21 

003 Finance, Clerk, and Planning – April 1, 
2022 through September 30, 2022

6.1 Salaries $62,723.61 

004 Finance, Clerk, and Planning – April 1, 
2022 through September 30, 2022

6.1 Benefits $12,032.28 

 Unassigned $39,948.89
 TOTAL $270,618.75



 

October 13, 2022 – Draft 
  

Minutes Book 24 Page | 21 

 

speed limit on SR 1328 concurring with the North Carolina Department of Transportation contained an inaccurate road description and it 
is in the public interest to repeal it;   

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town of Mineral Springs, North Carolina, the following: 

 
SECTION 1. Mineral Springs Ordinance O-2019-01, entitled “AN ORDINANCE DECLARING SPEED LIMIT MODIFICATION 

CONCURRING WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION ORDINANCE” is hereby repealed. 
 

SECTION 2. This ordinance shall be effective as of the date of its adoption.   
  

ADOPTED this 13th day of October, 2022.  Witness my hand and official seal: 
 

___________________________________ 
Frederick Becker III, Mayor 

 
 
 
 Attest: 
 
 ___________________________________ 
 Vicky A. Brooks, CMC, Town Clerk 

 Councilman Muller motioned to adopt ordinance O-2022-03, which repeals the 55 mile an hour 
speed limit on Shannon Road and Councilwoman Critz seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.   
Ayes: Coffey, Countryman, Critz, Cureton, and Muller.  Nays: None.  

 The ordinance (O-2022-03) is as follows: 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 

TOWN OF MINERAL SPRINGS 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE DECLARING SPEED LIMIT MODIFICATION  
CONCURRING WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  

ORDINANCE  
O-2022-03 

 
WHEREAS, N.C. G.S. 20-141 (f) authorizes speed limit modifications based upon engineering and traffic investigation on portions of a 
State Highway System Street located in the Town of Mineral Springs;   

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town of Mineral Springs, North Carolina, the following: 

 
SECTION 1.  Repeal the Following Speed Limit. 

 
Speed 
Limit 

Route  
Road Description

  
55 SR 1328 

 
(Shannon Road) from a point 0.25 mile north of SR 1327 (Pleasant 
Grove Road), the southern city limits of Mineral Springs, northward 
to a point 0.59 mile north of SR 1327, the northern city limits of 
Mineral Springs.  

    
SECTION 2.  Effective date.  This ordinance is effective upon adoption of the Department of Transportation of a concurring ordinance 
and the erection of signs giving notice of the authorized speed limit.    

 
ADOPTED this 13th day of October, 2022.  Witness my hand and official seal: 

 
___________________________________ 

Frederick Becker III, Mayor 
 
 
 

Attest: 
 
 

___________________________________ 
Vicky A. Brooks, CMC, Town Clerk 

   



 

October 13, 2022 – Draft 
  

Minutes Book 24 Page | 22 

 

Councilman Muller motioned to adopt ordinance 0-2022-04 which enacts the 45 mile an hour speed 
limit on Shannon Road and Councilman Countryman seconded.  The motion passed unanimously 
as follows:  Ayes: Coffey, Countryman, Critz, Cureton, and Muller.  Nays: None. 

 The ordinance (O-2022-04) is as follows:  

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 

TOWN OF MINERAL SPRINGS 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE DECLARING SPEED LIMIT MODIFICATION  
CONCURRING WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  

ORDINANCE  
O-2022-04 

 
WHEREAS, N.C. G.S. 20-141 (f) authorizes speed limit modifications based upon engineering and traffic investigation on portions of a 
State Highway System Street located in the Town of Mineral Springs;   

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town of Mineral Springs, North Carolina, the following: 

 
SECTION 1.  Enact the Following Speed Limit. 

 
Speed 
Limit 

Route  
Road Description

  
45 SR 1328 

 
SR 1328 (Shannon Road) from a point 0.11 mile north of SR 1327 
(Pleasant Grove Road), the southern city limits of Mineral Springs, 
northward to a point 0.59 mile north of SR 1327, the northern city 
limits of Mineral Springs. 

    
SECTION 2.  Effective date.  This ordinance is effective upon adoption of the Department of Transportation of a concurring ordinance 
and the erection of signs giving notice of the authorized speed limit.    

 
ADOPTED this 13th day of October, 2022.  Witness my hand and official seal: 

 
___________________________________ 

Frederick Becker III, Mayor 
 
 

Attest: 
 
 

___________________________________ 
Vicky A. Brooks, CMC, Town Clerk   

9. Proclamation for Domestic Violence Month – Action Item 

 Councilwoman Critz motioned to adopt the Proclamation for Domestic Violence Awareness being 
October 2022 and Councilman Muller seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.  Ayes: Coffey, 
Countryman, Critz, Cureton, and Muller.  Nays: None. 

10. Staff Updates 

 There were no staff updates. 

11. Other Business  

 There was no other business.   

12. Adjournment – Action Item 

 At 8:15 p.m. Councilwoman Coffey motioned to adjourn the meeting and Councilman Muller 
seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.  Ayes: Coffey, Countryman, Critz, Cureton,  and 
Muller.  Nays: None.   

 



 

October 13, 2022 – Draft 
  

Minutes Book 24 Page | 23 

 

 The next regular meeting will be on Thursday, November 10, 2022 at 7:30 p.m. at the Mineral 
Springs Town Hall.  
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted by: 

 
 
 
             
  Vicky A. Brooks, CMC, NCCMC, Town Clerk  Frederick Becker III, Mayor  























































 

   

 

 

MEMO 
 

To: Town Council 
From: Vicky Brooks 
Date: November 3, 2022 
Re: Agenda Item 4 – Consideration of Approving the Lighting Plan for God’s Temple of Zion’s 

Soccer Field 
 
In accordance with Article 5 – Section 5.6.5.9 of the Mineral Springs Development Ordinance, a 
zoning permit application from God’s Temple of Zion is attached for approval by the council. 
 
5.6.5.9 AUTHORIZATION FOR INSTALLATION OF PUBLIC AREA AND ROADWAY LIGHTING 
Installation of any new public area and roadway lighting fixtures other than for traffic control shall be 
specifically approved by the Town Council. 
 
God’s Temple of Zion received approval of a Special Use Permit by the Board of Adjustment in May of 
2021 for a “Recreation Facilities, public outdoor (excluding parks and playgrounds)” use on their 
property located at 5902 McNeely Road.   
 
God’s Temple of Zion is now proposing the installation of lighting around the soccer field. 
   

 
   

 

   

 

  

 

   

Town of Mineral Springs  
Town Clerk / Zoning Administrator 
Vicky Brooks 
P O Box 600 
Mineral Springs, NC  28108 
704-289-5331 
704-243-1705 FAX 
msvickybrooks@aol.com 
www.mineralspringsnc.com 
 

















MEMO
To: Mineral Springs Town Council
From: Rick Becker
Date: November 2, 2022
Subject: Grant Request: Social-Emotional Readiness Program,

D. Coffey Foundation for Athletics and Education

In August of 2021, Mr. John Tillman got in touch with me about putting together a program in Mineral
Springs that would provide social-emotional support and academic remediation to children in the
community who had experienced interruptions to their educational path due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Mr. Tillman grew up in Waxhaw and graduated from Parkwood High School in 1984. He has been
dedicated to the education of and support for Union County children, including time as a track and field
coach at Parkwood High School and involvement with area education non-profits. Mr. Tillman
suggested that the program could be funded with grant money the town would be receiving through the
American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (“ARPA”).  ARPA funding was being made available to every local
and tribal government in the country, and over the previous several months I had attended numerous
meetings and webinars with county, municipal, and state officials in an effort to educate myself on how
these funds could be utilized. To be honest, the Act had been passed and signed into law so quickly that
most of us in the world of local government had no idea what our next steps would be.

The ARPA was first proposed in Congress on January 14, 2021. It proceeded very quickly through both
chambers, achieving final passage on March 10, 2021, and was signed into law the next day. Total
ARPA appropriations amounted to $1.9 trillion, with $350 billion in direct disbursements to state, local,
and tribal governments. Out of the latter funding stream, the town of Mineral Springs was awarded
$270,618.75 based on a federal formula that took into account both the town’s population and the dollar
amount of the town’s FY2019-20 budget. Mineral Springs received its first CLSFRF direct deposit of
$135.309.38 on August 6, 2021.

In August 2021, we were operating under the so-called “Interim Final Rule” issued by the US Treasury
Department in May of 2021. The Rule had specified a very limited number of ways that local
governments were authorized to use Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (“CSLFRF”)
revenues, and many small units of government like ours did not undertake such programs and services
and were concerned that we would not be able to use the CSLFRF revenues and would have to forfeit
them. One promising solution that was discussed among the parties was partnering with county
departments or non-profit agencies that did undertake the sort of programs and services for which
CSLFRF revenues were authorized. Mr. Tillman’s suggestion would do exactly that: use some of the
town’s CSLFRF revenues to fund a grant to a non-profit that could deliver an eligible program.

Early in 2022, Mr. Tillman brought Dr. Delice Coffey into the discussions. Dr. Coffey was born and
raised right here in the Western Union neighborhood of Mineral Springs and had been operating the D.
Coffey Foundation for Athletics and Education (the foundation’s name has changed several times along
the way) in Durham, NC for several decades providing counseling, psychological services, and various
programs serving school-age children. I suggested that Mr. Tillman and Dr. Coffey draw up a grant
proposal to present to the Mineral Springs town council. Ultimately, Mr. Tillman and Dr. Coffey

Agenda Item

# ___
11/10/2022



designed an after-school program that would meet in Mineral Springs two hours per day, three days per
week for six weeks of the second semester of the Union County Public Schools (UCPS) school year in
the winter/spring of 2023, and again for six weeks of the first semester of the UCPS school year in the
fall of 2023.

The proposed program is called “Social-Emotional Readiness” and is designed to provide both social-
skills remediation and academic enrichment and support for Mineral Springs students in grades K-5 who
have suffered setbacks in their educational process due to disruptions caused by COVID-19. Loss of in-
person school for a year or more negatively impacted millions of children nationwide and these negative
effects have been well-documented. The program is described in greater detail in “Appendix A” of the
proposed Grant Agreement that is attached.

As Dr. Coffey and Mr. Tillman were working on their proposal, the US Treasury amended the Interim
Final Rule in a way that was advantageous to small municipalities. The Final Rule, published on January
6, 2022, allowed local governments to utilize the first $10 million of any CSLFRF revenues for virtually
any normal government expenditure rather than being limited to the very narrow set of authorized uses
that had been set forth in the Interim Final Rule. As you recall, Council took the first step toward freeing
up the town’s CSLFRF revenues through a grant project ordinance that authorized the town to use
CSLFRF revenues to reimburse itself for prior salary expenditures. This process put the Social-
Emotional Readiness proposal in a new perspective: while under the interim final rule, such a program
would have been one of the only ways the town could have spent its CSLFRF revenues, it was now no
longer necessary for the town to do so. Of course, the town is still free to fund such a program –
especially since it still represents one of the original intended uses of CSLFRF revenues under ARPA -
and I suggested that Dr. Coffey and Mr. Tillman move forward with their project and make a
presentation to Council along with a grant funding request.

The total budget for the Social-Emotional Readiness program is $56,194. This amount represents 20.8%
of the town’s ARPA/CLSFRF revenues. The program will utilize the so-called “PurposeFull People”
curriculum developed by CharacterStrong for children in grades Kindergarten through 5th grade and will
be supplemented with additional academic instruction and tutoring designed by Dr. Coffey. The
teaching staff will consist of area college students planning careers in teaching, mostly from Wingate
University. The program goal is to enroll fifty Mineral Springs children per semester, and the first
semester is scheduled to begin in the first week of January 2023 as children are returning to school from
the Christmas break.

In addition to the draft Grant Agreement for Council’s consideration, I am attaching some background
information on Dr. Coffey and the D. Coffey Foundation for Athletics and Education, the first two pages
of a 2005 IRS Form 990 filed by CRA Clinical Services (before Dr. Coffey changed the name of the
non-profit), an IRS Determination Letter dated February 17, 2013 confirming the Foundation’s
501(c)(3) status, the D. Coffey Foundation for Athletics and Education’s entry on non-profit evaluation
site GuideStar, a confirmation from the IRS that the Foundation is still current with its required Form
990-N filings as of 2021, and a LinkedIn profile for Mr. Tillman.

Dr. Coffey and Mr. Tillman will be attending the November 10, 2022 Regular Town Council Meeting to
make their presentation. If Council wishes to fund this program, it should either approve the attached
Agreement or propose changes to the agreement and approve a modified agreement. If Council approves
this grant funding to the D. Coffey Foundation for Athletics and Education, it will also need to adopt O-
2022-05 (modified if necessary), the Project Ordinance which authorizes funding for the Social-
Emotional Readiness program.















  Other Names

Form 990-N (e-Postcard)
Organizations who have filed a 990-N (e-Postcard) annual electronic notice. Most small organizations that
receive less than $50,000 fall into this category.

 Tax Year 2021 Form 990-N (e-Postcard)

 MENU HELP

Home   Tax Exempt Organization Search  The D Co�ey Foundation For Athletics & Education

 Back to Search Results

The D Co�ey Foundation For Athletics &
Education
(Helping People Help Themselves )
EIN: 56-2220734 | Durham, NC, United States





Tax Period: 
2021 (01/01/2021 - 12/31/2021)

EIN: 
56-2220734

Legal Name (Doing Business as): 
The D Co�ey Foundation For Athletics & Education 

Mailing Address: 
1110 SCHOLASTIC CIR 
DURHAM, NC 27713 
United States 

Principal O�icer's Name and Address:  
Delice Co�ey 

https://www.irs.gov/
https://www.irs.gov/help/telephone-assistance
https://www.irs.gov/
https://apps.irs.gov/app/eos/
javascript: history.go(-1)


 Tax Year 2020 Form 990-N (e-Postcard)

 Tax Year 2019 Form 990-N (e-Postcard)

 Tax Year 2018 Form 990-N (e-Postcard)

 Tax Year 2017 Form 990-N (e-Postcard)

 Tax Year 2015 Form 990-N (e-Postcard)

 Tax Year 2014 Form 990-N (e-Postcard)

 Tax Year 2013 Form 990-N (e-Postcard)

 Tax Year 2012 Form 990-N (e-Postcard)

 Tax Year 2010 Form 990-N (e-Postcard)

1110 SCHOLASTIC CIR 
DURHAM, NC 27713 
United States 

Gross receipts not greater than: 
$50,000

Organization has terminated: 
No

Website URL:  
DrDCo�ey.com/Foundation

Page Last Reviewed or Updated: 20-November-2020  Share  Print

https://apps.irs.gov/app/eos/#


   

Contact

www.linkedin.com/in/johnqtillman
(LinkedIn)

Top Skills
Business Coaching & Consulting
Management Consulting
Strategic Analysis

Certifications
Licensed Instructor, Business &
Marketing
Certified Economic Development
Finance Professional

Honors-Awards
United States Olympian
Minority Entrepreneur of the Year

John Tillman, MBA
Founder and Chief Executive Officer, Goodlife Coaching & Personal
Development, Inc.
Monroe, North Carolina, United States

Summary
PROFILE
John Tillman is a visionary business executive with a successful
track record of starting, growing, and guiding companies to
leadership positions in their industries. His passion is helping
individuals and organizations accelerate their success and achieve
their full potential. 

With an initial investment of only $7,000, John built an enterprise
that grossed over $10 Million per year while providing life enhancing
services to youth, adolescents and families throughout North
Carolina. His educational and behavioral healthcare services
company became an industry leader by exceeding customers'
expectations,  staying on the cutting edge of innovation in clinical
and business best practices, and creating a "can-do", team-oriented
corporate culture".  

With more than 20 years of progressive business experience in
training, marketing, human services, and economic development,
John now applies his cumulative experience, knowledge and skills
to assist entrepreneurs, executives and not-for-profit managers to
achieve rapid short-term results as well as sustainable improvements
to their overall business model and strategy.

KEY SKILLS AREAS 
Strategic Planning
Community Economic Development
Marketing & Business Plan Development
Educational Service Delivery & Behavioral Healthcare Management
High Impact Coaching for Executives, Entrepreneurs & Business
Managers
Consulting Focusing on Rapid Results & Long Term Sustainable
Improvements

  Page 1 of 4

https://www.linkedin.com/in/johnqtillman?jobid=1234&lipi=urn%3Ali%3Apage%3Ad_jobs_easyapply_pdfgenresume%3BY2VanZVrRn%2BmoseQm8uVMg%3D%3D&licu=urn%3Ali%3Acontrol%3Ad_jobs_easyapply_pdfgenresume-v02_profile
https://www.linkedin.com/in/johnqtillman?jobid=1234&lipi=urn%3Ali%3Apage%3Ad_jobs_easyapply_pdfgenresume%3BY2VanZVrRn%2BmoseQm8uVMg%3D%3D&licu=urn%3Ali%3Acontrol%3Ad_jobs_easyapply_pdfgenresume-v02_profile


   

Experience

Goodlife Coaching & Personal Development, Inc.
Chief Executive Officer
April 2021 - Present (1 year 8 months)

Innovative start-up using technology to enhance delivery of education,
coaching and therapeutic services. Promoting programs that address the
specific and comprehensive needs of underserved and targeted populations.

Capital Asset Recovery of the Carolinas, Inc.
Chief Executive Officer
July 2014 - January 2021 (6 years 7 months)
Monroe, North Carolina

Provide strategic leadership to a multi-disciplinary team of professionals
committed to researching, recovering and returning lost, displaced and
otherwise unclaimed assets to their rightful owners. 

Momentum Marketing / Strategic Business Solutions
President & Sr. Consultant
January 2010 - June 2014 (4 years 6 months)
Atlanta, Georgia Area & Charlotte, NC

Provide management consulting and advisory services to entrepreneurs,
executives, and business leaders aiding them to secure required resources,
enhance operational efficiency, and ensure sustainable growth and
profitability. 

Provide business management services for authors, motivational speakers and
seminar/workshop facilitators.

EXCEL Personal Development, Inc.
Chief Executive Officer
April 1998 - December 2009 (11 years 9 months)

Turned a $7,000 initial investment into a $10 Million per year enterprise that
assisted thousands of individuals to live healthier, happier lives.

Founded the company to address the educational and behavioral healthcare
needs of youth, adolescents, adults and families in central and western North
Carolina. Grew the company into an industry leader with 13 offices covering

  Page 2 of 4



   

two-thirds of the State and employing more than 400 educators and mental
health professionals. 

Successfully negotiated contractual agreements and partnerships with
State agencies and local governmental entities.  Led the company through
numerous industry reforms, including privatization of public health services,
national accreditation, changes in reimbursement rates and structures, and
intensive auditing of services, all while maintaining high customer satisfaction.  

Earned honors for leadership and corporate citizenship including Entrepreneur
of the Year by the local Chamber of Commerce.

Monroe - Union County Community Development Corporation
Executive Director
May 1995 - June 1999 (4 years 2 months)
Monroe, North Carolina

Improved the quality of life for hundreds of low and moderate income citizens
of Union County, NC through  housing development, home ownership
counseling and assistance, business development,  consumer counseling,  job
training and self-improvement seminars.

Partnered with First Union National Bank to acquire and convert 22 units of
dilapidated housing into quality refurbished homes for first-time home buyers.
Leveraged $1,000,000 for construction costs and down payment assistance.
Successfully wrote grant proposals that increased funding for Monroe - Union
County CDC by 85% during first year as Executive Director.  Doubled housing
production during second year as Executive Director.  Expanded services
to include community education, and commercial/business development
activities.

Increased the organization’s visibility through networking and presentations
to business and civic leaders, local government officials, and private and
governmental funding organizations.

INROADS
Staff Specialist
1990 - 1994 (4 years)

Developed and placed talented minority youth in business and industry
and prepared them for corporate and community leadership.  Provided

  Page 3 of 4



   

professional training, academic enrichment, personal counseling, recruitment
and placement.

USATF
1992 OLYMPIAN, TRIPLE JUMPER
1985 - 1992 (7 years)

Education
The University of Texas at Austin
MBA, Business Management, Entrepreneurship · (1987 - 1989)

University of Tennessee-Knoxville
B.S., Business Admin, Marketing & Psychology · (1984 - 1987)

  Page 4 of 4



   The D. Coffey Foundation for Athletics & Education
Social Emotional Readiness Program

Expenses January February March April June July August September October November December Total
Nov.-Dec. Jan. February March April-May June July August September October Nov.-Dec. January Feb. Total

Curruculm Elementary - year $8,497 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $8,497
Program Director - 8 mts - ($1000) $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $8,000
Executive Director - 8 mts ($1125) $1,125 $1,125 $1,125 $1,125 $1,125 $1,125 $1,125 $1,125 $9,000
Rent - (Cost-$3,600-6 mts) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Utilities, lights, internet (Cost-$300) $0 $300 $250 $250 $250 $250 $250 $0 $1,550
Student Supplies $350 $100 $100 $100 $100 $100 $100 $0 $950
Liability Insurance yearly $143 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $143
Accounting - 7 mts. $350 mtly $0 $350 $350 $350 $350 $350 $350 $350 $2,450
Marketing &  Advertising 3 months $200 $100 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300
8 Student Teachers - Semester 1 - $10 hrly $0 $1,920 $1,920 $1,920 $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,760
8 Student Teachers - Semester 2 - $10 hrly $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,920 $1,920 $1,920 $0 $5,760
Prorgam Assistant (8 months) - $10 hrly $240 $240 $240 $240 $240 $240 $240 $240 $1,920
Office Supplies $250 $50 $50 $50 $50 $50 $50 $0 $550
Transportation $0 $926 $926 $926 $926 $926 $926 $0 $5,556
Cleaning Crew - $10 hrly. $0 $60 $60 $60 $60 $60 $60 $0 $360
Snacks $0 $333 $333 $333 $333 $333 $333 $0 $1,998
Legal Fees $400 per hour $2,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,000
Computer $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Printer $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Miscellaneous $500 $150 $150 $150 $150 $150 $150 $0 $1,400
Private Facebook Group - $97 yrly $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Emergency Contact Number - $100 per call $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Live Virtual Session $150 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Tutoring - $35 per hour $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Mental Health  - $250 per hour $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Expenses $14,305 $0 $6,654 $6,504 $6,504 $0 $0 $0 $6,504 $6,504 $6,504 $2,715 $0 $56,194



This page has been intentionally left blank.



D. Coffey Foundation Social-Emotional Readiness Project - Page 1 of 7

GRANT AGREEMENT

Between

THE TOWN OF MINERAL SPRINGS, North Carolina
and

THE D. COFFEY FOUNDATION FOR ATHLETICS AND EDUCATION

Article I. Overview.

Section 1.1. Parties. The parties to this agreement are the Town of Mineral Springs, North Carolina, a body politic
and political subdivision of the State of North Carolina (“TOWN”) and The D. Coffey Foundation for Athletics and
Education, a North Carolina non-profit corporation [“RECIPIENT”].

Section 1.2. Source of Funding. This Agreement is funded by Grant project Ordinance #O-2022-05 adopted by the
Mineral Springs Town Council on November 10, 2022.

Section 1.3. Purpose. The purpose of this Agreement is to establish the terms and conditions for a grant award
allocated to the RECIPIENT from the TOWN.

Section 1.4. Term. This Agreement shall govern the performance of the parties for the period November 10, 2022
(the “Effective Date”) through March 31, 2024 (“Expiration Date”), unless earlier terminated by either party in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement (“Agreement Term”).

Article II. Scope of Funded Activities.

Section 2.1. Scope of Services. RECIPIENT shall perform all activities described in the scope of activities, attached
hereto as Exhibit A (Approved Activities).

Section 2.2. Budget. RECIPIENT shall perform the Approved Activities in accordance with the program budget as
approved by the TOWN and attached hereto as Exhibit B (Approved Budget).

Section 2.3. Prior Approval for Changes. RECIPIENT may not make any changes, directly or indirectly, to program
design, Approved Activities, or Approved Budget without the prior written approval of TOWN. Monthly variations
in demand-based line items (e.g., supplies, utilities, snacks) are permissible provided those expenditures do not
exceed total project budget amounts.

Article III. Compensation.

Section 3.1. Payment of Funds. TOWN agrees to provide funds to the RECIPIENT in accordance with the Approved
Budget and for the performance of the Approved Activities under this Agreement in an amount not to exceed
$56,194 (“Total Agreement Funds”). The amount of Total Agreement Funds, however, is subject to adjustment by
the TOWN if a substantial change is made in the Approved Activities that affects this Agreement or if this
Agreement is terminated prior to the expiration of the Agreement. Program funds shall not be expended prior to
the Effective Date or following the earlier of the Expiration Date or the last day of the Agreement Term. Costs
incurred shall only be as necessary and allowable to carry out the purposes and activities of the Approved
Activities and may not exceed the maximum limits set in the Approved Budget. Expenses charged against the Total
Agreement Funds shall be incurred in accordance with this Agreement.

Section 3.2. Payment Schedule. TOWN shall make payments to the RECIPIENT on the following schedule provided
all prior invoices and reports described in Section 3.3 have been made:

Report Date Reporting Period Covered Payment Date Payment Amount
N/A N/A 11/15/2022 $14,305.00
01/20/2023 11/15/2022-12/31/2022 02/01/2023 $6,654.00



D. Coffey Foundation Social-Emotional Readiness Project - Page 2 of 7

02/20/2023 Invoice only 03/01/2023 $6,504.00
03/20/2023 01/01/2023-02/28/2023 04/01/2023 $6,504.00
06/20/2023 03/01/2023-05/30/2023 09/01/2023 $6,504.00
09/20/2023 Invoice only 10/01/2023 $6,504.00
10/20/2023 09/01/2023-09/30/2023 11/01/2023 $6,504.00
02/20/2024 10/01/2023-01/31/2023 03/20/2024 $2,715.00*

*subject to final reconciliation

Section 3.3. Reports and Invoices. On or before the twentieth (20th) day of each of the months of January 2023,
March 2023, June 2023, and October 2023, RECIPIENT shall submit to the TOWN’s Finance Officer either by US
Mail or by email a financial report detailing the activities for the period indicated in the table in Section 3.2 and an
invoice for the upcoming payment as shown in the table under “Payment Amount”, setting forth actual
expenditures made by RECIPIENT for the period in accordance with this Agreement. On or before the twentieth
(20th) day of February 2023 and September 2023 RECIPIENT shall submit only an invoice for the upcoming payment
as shown in the table under “Payment Amount”. The TOWN’s Finance Officer shall evaluate each report and/or
invoice for compliance with this agreement and if RECIPIENT has been found to be in compliance the TOWN’s
Finance Officer shall disburse the next payment on the schedule presented in Section 3.2 to RECIPIENT by check
mailed prior to the fifth calendar day after the Payment Date shown in the table in Section 3.2. On or before the
twentieth (20th) day of February 2024 RECIPIENT shall submit a Final Report and reconciliation of all project
activities and expenditures. The amount of the Final Payment shall be calculated by subtracting from the amount
of the Total Agreement Funds the total of all actual expenditures made by RECIPIENT over the duration of the
project. The TOWN’s Finance Officer shall review the final report and disburse any Final Payment to RECIPIENT
within 30 days of receipt of the Final Report.

Article IV. Financial Accountability and Grant Administration.

Section 4.1. Financial Management. RECIPIENT shall maintain a financial management system and financial
records related to all transactions with funds received pursuant to this Agreement. RECIPIENT shall maintain
detailed, itemized documentation and other necessary records of all income received and expenses incurred
pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 4.2. Limitations on Expenditures. TOWN shall only approve documented expenditures incurred by
RECIPIENT during the Agreement Term that are: (i) in conformity with the program budget attached hereto as
Exhibit B, (ii) reasonable and necessary to carry out the scope of Approved Activities described in Exhibit A; (iii)
documented by contracts, invoices, vouchers, or other evidence of liability consistent with the established TOWN
and RECIPIENT procedures; and (iv) incurred in accordance with all applicable requirements for the expenditure of
funds payable under this Agreement. TOWN may not reimburse or otherwise compensate RECIPIENT for any
expenditures incurred or services provided prior to the Effective Date or following the earlier of the expiration or
termination of this Agreement.

Section 4.3. Closeout. Following RECIPIENT’s final report under this Agreement, TOWN shall reconcile all prior
payments to and expenditures by RECIPIENT and shall make final payment in an amount determined by this
reconciliation as specified in Section 3.3 but in no event greater than the balance of the original project budget
that remains unpaid unless TOWN has previously approved an increase in any budget amount under the provisions
of Section 2.3. In consideration of the execution of this Agreement by TOWN, RECIPIENT agrees that acceptance of
final payment from TOWN will constitute an agreement by RECIPIENT to release and forever discharge TOWN, its
agents, employees, officers, representatives, affiliates, successors and assigns from any and all claims, demands,
damages, liabilities, actions, causes of action or suits of any nature whatsoever, which RECIPIENT has at the time of
acceptance of final payment or may thereafter have, arising out of, in connection with or in any way relating to any
and all injuries and damages of any kind as a result of or in any way relating to this Agreement. The RECIPIENT’s
obligations to TOWN under this Agreement shall not terminate until all closeout requirements are completed to
the satisfaction of TOWN. Such requirements shall include submitting final reports to TOWN and providing any
closeout-related information requested by TOWN by the deadlines specified by TOWN. This provision shall survive
the expiration or termination of this Agreement.



D. Coffey Foundation Social-Emotional Readiness Project - Page 3 of 7

Article V. Compliance with Grant Agreement and Applicable Laws.

Section 5.1. Equal Opportunity & Other Requirements. RECIPIENT shall operate under nondiscrimination practices
consistent with the requirements in this section.

Civil Rights Laws. RECIPIENT shall comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. §§ 2000d et
seq.), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin.

Disability Protections. RECIPIENT shall comply with section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29
U.S.C. 794), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability under any program or activity.

Age Discrimination. RECIPIENT shall comply with the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. §§ 6101 et
seq.) which prohibits discrimination on the basis of age in programs or activities.

Americans with Disabilities Act. RECIPIENT shall comply with Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act
of 1990 (42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq.), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability under
programs, activities, and services provided or made available by state and local governments or
instrumentalities or agencies thereto.

Section 5.2. Licenses, Certifications, Permits, Accreditation. RECIPIENT shall obtain and keep current any license,
certification, permit, or accreditation required by federal, state, or local law and shall submit to TOWN proof of any
licensure, certification, permit, or accreditation upon request.

Article VI. Default and Termination.

Section 6.1. Termination for Cause. TOWN may terminate this Agreement for cause after three days written
notice. Cause may include misuse of funds, fraud, lack of compliance with applicable rules, laws and regulations,
failure to perform on time, or failure to comply with any of the requirements of this Agreement.

Section 6.2. Termination Without Cause. TOWN may terminate this Agreement for any reason, in its sole
discretion, by providing RECIPIENT with thirty (30) days prior written notice.

Section 6.3. Termination by Mutual Agreement. TOWN and RECIPIENT may agree to terminate this Agreement for
their mutual convenience through a written amendment to this Agreement. The amendment will state the
effective date of the termination and the procedures for proper closeout of the Agreement.

Section 6.4. Termination Procedures. If this Agreement is terminated, RECIPIENT may not incur new obligations
for the terminated portion of the Agreement after RECIPIENT has received the notification of termination.
RECIPIENT must cancel as many outstanding obligations as possible. Costs incurred after receipt of the termination
notice will be disallowed. RECIPIENT shall not be relieved of liability to TOWN because of any breach of Agreement
by RECIPIENT. TOWN may, to the extent authorized by law, withhold payments to RECIPIENT for the purpose of
set-off until the exact amount of damages due TOWN from RECIPIENT is determined.

Article VII. General Conditions.

Section 7.1. Indemnification. To the extent permitted by law, RECIPIENT agrees to indemnify and hold harmless
TOWN, and any of its officers, agents and employees from any claims of third parties arising out of any act or
omission of RECIPIENT in connection with the performance of this Agreement.

Section 7.2. Insurance. RECIPIENT must maintain insurance policies with minimum limits as follows:

Commercial General Liability Insurance: RECIPIENT shall provide commercial general liability insurance on a
comprehensive broad form on an occurrence basis with a minimum combined single limit of $1,000,000.00 for
each occurrence.



D. Coffey Foundation Social-Emotional Readiness Project - Page 4 of 7

Automobile Liability Insurance: RECIPIENT shall provide automobile liability insurance with a combined single limit
of $500,000.00 for bodily injury and property damage; a limit of $500,000.00 for uninsured/under insured motorist
coverage; and a limit of $2,000.00 for medical payment coverage. RECIPIENT shall provide this insurance for all
automobiles that are: (A) owned by RECIPIENT and used in the performance of this agreement; (B) hired by
RECIPIENT and used in the performance of this agreement; and (C) owned by RECIPIENT’s employees and
volunteers and used in performance of this agreement (“non-owned vehicle insurance”). Non-owned vehicle
insurance protects employers when employees use their personal vehicles for work purposes. Non-owned vehicle
insurance supplements, but does not replace, the car-owner’s liability insurance. RECIPIENT is not required to
provide and maintain automobile liability insurance on any vehicle – owned, hired, or non-owned -- unless the
vehicle is used in the performance of this agreement.

The insurer must provide TOWN with a Certificate of Insurance reflecting the coverages required in this Section. All
Certificates of Insurance shall reflect thirty (30) days written notice by the insurer in the event of cancellation,
reduction, or other modification of coverage. In addition to this notice requirement, RECIPIENT must provide
TOWN prompt written notice of cancellation, reduction, or material modification of coverage of insurance. If
RECIPIENT fails to provide such notice, the RECIPIENT assumes sole responsibility for all losses incurred by TOWN
for which insurance would have provided coverage. The insurance policies must remain in effect during the term of
this Agreement.

RECIPIENT shall name TOWN as an additional insured and it is required that coverage be placed with an “A” rated
insurance company acceptable to TOWN. If RECIPIENT fails at any time to maintain and keep in force the required
insurance, TOWN may cancel and terminate the Agreement without notice.

Section 7.3.  Venue and Jurisdiction. TOWN and RECIPIENT agree that they executed and performed this
Agreement in UNION COUNTY, North Carolina. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of North Carolina. The exclusive forum and venue for all actions arising out of this Agreement is the
appropriate division of the North Carolina General Court of Justice in UNION COUNTY. Such actions may not be
commenced in, nor removed to, federal court unless required by law.

Section 7.4. Nonwaiver. No action or failure to act by TOWN constitutes a waiver of any of its rights or remedies
that arise out of this Agreement, nor shall such action or failure to act constitute approval of or acquiescence in a
breach of this Agreement, except as specifically agreed in writing.

Section 7.5. Limitation of TOWN Authority. Nothing contained in this Agreement may be deemed or construed to
in any way stop, limit, or impair TOWN from exercising or performing any regulatory, policing, legislative,
governmental, or other powers or functions.

Section 7.6. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable in a judicial
proceeding, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect to the extent permitted by law.

Section 7.7.  Assignment. RECIPIENT may not assign or delegate any of its rights or duties that arise out of this
Agreement without TOWN’s prior written consent.  Unless TOWN otherwise agrees in writing, RECIPIENT and all
assigns are subject to all TOWN’s defenses and are liable for all RECIPIENT’s duties that arise from this Agreement
and all TOWN’s claims that arise from this Agreement.

Section 7.8. Integration. This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the
subject matter of this Agreement. With respect to that subject matter, there are no promises, agreements,
conditions, inducements, warranties, or understandings, written or oral, expressed, or implied, between the
parties, other than as set forth or referenced in this Agreement.

Section 7.9. Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted by this Agreement must be in
writing and must be given either by personal delivery, approved carrier, email, or mail, addressed as follows:

(a) If to the TOWN:
PO Box 600, Mineral Springs NC 28108
msncmayor@yahoo.com



D. Coffey Foundation Social-Emotional Readiness Project - Page 5 of 7

(b) If to the RECIPIENT:
1110 Scholastic Cir, Durham NC 27713
delicecoffey@gmail.com

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to the signed by their duly constituted legal
representatives on this the 10th day of November, 2022 and is effective as of the Effective Date.

For the TOWN OF MINERAL SPRINGS (“TOWN”):

_______________________________________
Frederick Becker III, Mayor

Attest:

_____________________________________________
Vicky A. Brooks, CMC, Town Clerk

For D. Coffey Foundation for Athletics and Education (“RECIPIENT”):

_____________________________________________
Dr. Delice Coffey, President

This instrument has been preaudited
as required by the Local Government
Budget and Fiscal Control Act.

_______________________________________________________
Frederick Becker III, Finance Officer Date



D. Coffey Foundation Social-Emotional Readiness Project - Page 6 of 7

Exhibit A: Approved Activities

The D. Coffey Foundation for Athletics & Education has been a nationally recognized 501(c)(3) organization since
2013. Our focus is quality education for all, especially those who need a helping hand. We are requesting grant
funding from the Town of Mineral Springs in an amount not to exceed $56,194 to implement a program we are
calling “Social-Emotional Readiness” in Mineral Springs to serve a targeted enrollment of fifty Mineral Springs
children in Kindergarten through Fifth Grade. This program is specifically designed to address recent well-
documented negative effects on both social-emotional and academic development in school children as a result of
the almost two-year-long disruption to their in-person learning environments and their overall social interactions
resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic.

We have adopted the Social Emotional Learning curriculum called “Purposefull People” developed by
CharacterStrong and have added tutoring and mental health to bring this first-to-market combination, which will
yield more significant results to a curriculum already proven effective by research. The Social-Emotional Readiness
program will be housed in a modern multi-purpose facility in Mineral Springs, staffed with eight students from
Wingate University who are studying to pursue careers in teaching, and overseen by a Program Director on site for
every session. Student supplies, snacks, and curriculum materials will be provided, and transportation will be
available.

The program will run for twelve weeks, February-May and September-December. We will meet with the students
after school three times a week for two hours. Each week there will be a specific SEL topic with handouts, videos,
and face-to-face interactions with student teachers. Students who need tutoring and mental health services will be
assessed individually and provided with those services as needed. We will have a Facebook group where the
students can communicate and ask questions daily. There will be an emergency number for the mental health of
any student in crisis, and a monthly live virtual session with the students, Executive Director, Program Director,
and student teachers to celebrate the student wins, big and small. What we know for sure is that what gets
celebrated gets repeated!



D. Coffey Foundation Social-Emotional Readiness Project - Page 7 of 7

Exhibit B: Approved Budget

REVENUES Total
Revenue

Town of Mineral Springs Grant Project
Ordinance #O-2022-05 Social Emotional Readiness Program $56,194

Budget Cost Categories Description of Category
Total

Expenditu
res

1. Curriculum Character Strong “PurposeFull People” $8,497
2. Program Director $8,000
3. Executive Director $9,000
4. Facilities Utilities, Telephone, Internet, Janitorial $1,910
5. Student Supplies $950
6. Liability Insurance $143
7. Accounting Monthly finance reports, final report $2,450
8. Teaching Personnel 8 Teachers for 6 months @$10/hr, 24 hrs/mo $11,520
9. Support Personnel 1 Program Assistant for 8 months @ $10/hr $1,920
10. Office Supplies $550
11. Student Transportation $5,556
12. Student Snacks $1,998
13. Legal Fees $2,000
14. Marketing & Advertising $300
15. Miscellaneous $1,400
16. Total Costs: Mineral Springs Grant

Funds
MUST EQUAL REVENUE TOTAL ABOVE

$56,194



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
TOWN OF MINERAL SPRINGS 
 
 

PROJECT ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING A GRANT TO THE D. COFFEY 
FOUNDATION FOR ATHLETICS AND EDUCATION FOR A SOCIAL-

EMOTIONAL READINESS PROGRAM 
  

O-2022-05 
 
Pursuant to section 13.2 of Chapter 159 of the General Statutes of North Carolina, the 
following project ordinance is hereby adopted: 
 
Section 1: The project involves implementation of a program called “Social-Emotional 
Readiness” by the D. Coffey Foundation for Athletics and Education, to be funded by a 
grant from the Town of Mineral Springs in an amount not to exceed fifty-six thousand 
one hundred ninety-four dollars ($56,194.00). 

 
The project consists of an after-school program combining social-emotional learning, 
mental health, and academic tutoring for Mineral Springs children in Kindergarten 
through Fifth Grade. The program will run from February 2023 through December 2023 
in two semesters of twelve weeks each with a targeted enrollment of fifty students per 
semester. A grant agreement for this program was approved by the Mineral Springs Town 
Council on November 10, 2022. 
 
Section 2: It is estimated that the following revenues will be available to complete those 
projects described in section 3:  

 

General Fund Balance $56,194.00

Total $56,194.00

 
Section 3: The following amounts are appropriated for the Social-Emotional Readiness 
Project fund:  

 

Project implementation $56,194.00

Total $56,194.00

 
Section 4: The Finance Officer is authorized to make periodic payments to the D. Coffey 
Foundation for Athletics and Education for implementation of the program based on the 
reporting and payment schedule set forth in the agreement between the town and the 
foundation. 

 
Section 5: The Finance Officer is hereby directed to maintain within the Social-
Emotional Readiness Project Fund sufficient detailed accounting records for the project 
authorized. 
 



Section 6: The Finance Officer is directed to report the financial activity of the Social-
Emotional Readiness Project Fund as a part of each regular monthly Mineral Springs 
Finance Report in any month that such activity takes place. 
 
Section 7: The Finance Officer is authorized to transfer funds as required, not to exceed 
the total amount authorized by this ordinance, from the General Fund balance into the 
Social-Emotional Readiness Project Fund.  
 
Section 8: Copies of this Social-Emotional Readiness Project Ordinance shall be filed 
with the Town Clerk and the Finance Officer. 

 
ADOPTED this the 10th day of November, 2022. 

 
 
 
 

_________________________ 
Frederick Becker III, Mayor 

 
 
 
Attest: 
 
__________________________ 
Vicky A. Brooks, Clerk 
 



 

 

DRAFT 

2023 Mineral Springs Holiday Schedule  

The following public holidays are established for the Town of Mineral Springs 
employees.  The town hall will officially be closed on the days shown below. 

Monday, January 2, 2023 New Year’s Day 

Monday, January 16, 2023 Birthday of Martin Luther King, Jr. 

Monday, February 20, 2023 Washington’s Birthday (aka President’s Day) 

Monday, April 10, 2023 Easter Monday 

Monday, May 29, 2023 Memorial Day 

Monday, June 19, 2023 Juneteenth National Independence Day 

Tuesday, July 4, 2023 Independence Day 

Monday, September 4, 2023 Labor Day 

Monday, October 9, 2023 Columbus Day 

Friday, November 10, 2023 Veterans Day 

Thursday, November 23, 2023 Thanksgiving Day 

Friday, November 24, 2023 Thanksgiving Day Holiday 

Friday, December 22, 2023 – Friday, 
December 29, 2023 

Christmas Holiday Week 

Monday, January 1, 2024 New Year’s Day 

 
 
 

Town Council review on November 10, 2022 


	111022_tca
	101322_tcmd
	Percentage_Collection_22_09
	Finance_Report_2209_MSPDF
	111022 MEMO tc God's Temple of Zion Lighting
	L22-01 Draft
	God's Temple of Zion Plot Plan
	221110_Project_Ord_Social-Emotional_Readiness_AGENDA_ITEM
	221110_Social-Emotional_Readiness_Agenda_Item
	221102_D_Coffey_Project_Memo.pdf (p.1-2)
	About_Delice_Coffey.pdf (p.3)
	D_Coffey_990_Pages_1-2.pdf (p.4-5)
	D_Coffey_501_Determination.pdf (p.6-7)
	Coffey_Guidestar_Profile.pdf (p.8)
	IRS_990-N_D_Coffey.pdf (p.9-10)
	John_Tillman_Profile_Linkedin.pdf (p.11-14)
	221101_REVISED_Budget_spreadsheet_FINAL.pdf (p.15)
	This page intentionally left blank.pdf (p.16)
	D_COFFEY_Agreement_Working_Draft_221102.pdf (p.17-23)

	22-05_Project_Ord_Social-Emotional_Readiness
	D_COFFEY_Agreement_Working_Draft_221102
	2023_MineralSpringsHolidaySchedule_DRAFT

